# UCSF UC San Francisco Electronic Theses and Dissertations

## Title

Osteogenic potential of Platelet Rich Fibrin for ridge preservation: A comparative micro-CT evaluation

## Permalink

https://escholarship.org/uc/item/8w6219wb

## Author

Clark, Daniel

# Publication Date

2016

Peer reviewed|Thesis/dissertation

## Osteogenic Potential of Platelet Rich Fibrin for Ridge Preservation: A Comparative Micro-CT Evaluation

by

Daniel R. Clark, DDS

## THESIS

Submitted in partial satisfaction of the requirements for the degree of

## MASTER OF SCIENCE

in

Oral and Craniofacial Sciences

in the

## GRADUATE DIVISION

#### of the

## UNIVERSITY OF CALIFORNIA, SAN FRANCISCO

Osteogenic potential of Platelet Rich Fibrin for ridge preservation: A comparative micro-CT evaluation

#### Abstract

Objective: Platelet-Rich Fibrin (PRF) is an autogenous blood product with clinical applications in dento-alveolar surgery. However, there is minimal information regarding its clinical efficacy. This randomized controlled clinical trial aims to evaluate the efficacy of PRF alone or with freeze-dried bone allograft (FDBA) as compared to FDBA alone or no graft (blood clot) in improving *de novo* bone formation during ridge preservation as determined by Micro X-ray computed tomography (Micro-CT) analysis.

Methods: Forty patients requiring extraction of non-molar teeth and replacement with dental implants were enrolled and randomized into one of four ridge preservation approaches: 1:PRF, 2:PRF+FDBA, 3:FDBA, or 4:blood clot. Non-traumatic extractions were performed without the elevation of a mucoperiosteal flap and the ridge preservation procedure was performed. After three months healing, bone core samples were harvested at the time of implant placement for micro-CT analysis.

Results: Analysis was performed for thirty three subjects that completed the study to date. The attrition rate was 12%. Implant success rate was 97%. All treatment groups allowed for the successful placement of implants after three months of healing. All treatment groups demonstrated evidence of new bone formation as measured by micro-CT analysis. Trabecular formation was noted in the blood clot, PRF, and PRF+FDBA groups, while minimal trabecular structure could be noted in the FDBA group. NO significant differences were noted between groups for bone volume fraction or bone mineral density. There was a trend for highest bone volume fraction with the PRF group and highest bone mineral density for the PRF+FDBA group.

iii

Conclusion: This study demonstrates the use of PRF with or without FDBA for ridge preservation. A trend for increased bone formation at extraction sockets supports its application where *de novo* bone formation is desired. This study represents the first randomized controlled clinical trial evaluating the efficacy of PRF for ridge preservation by histological, micro-CT, and clinical measures.

## Table of Contents

	Page #
Introduction	1
Background	2
Alveolar Ridge Preservation	2
Biomaterials	3
Biologic Agents	5
Platelet Rich Fibrin	7
Materials and Methods	11
Ridge preservation Protocols	12
Bone Core Harvest	13
Micro-CT Analysis	14
Results	14
Discussion	16
Conclusion	18
Tables and Figures	19
References	21

	Page #
Table 1: Demographic Data	19

# List of Figures

# Page #

Figure 1: Representative Micro-CT Sections	19
Figure 2: Bone Volume Fraction	20
Figure 3: Bone Mineral Density	20

#### Introduction

The use of dental implants has become a common and popular treatment modality for the rehabilitation of the dentition. Since its first introduction, dental implantology has continued to evolve to meet the functional and esthetic demands of patients. One challenge consistently faced by clinicians is inadequate alveolar bone volume to support the placement of a dental implant of appropriate length and width in the ideal position. To overcome this challenge many surgical techniques and materials have been utilized to preserve or regenerate tissues to provide an optimal environment for successful implant placement. For this paper, the preservation and regeneration of bone with biomaterials will be the focus as the main tissue in supporting dental implants. Biomaterials used for this purpose generally consists of matrix scaffolding materials and biologic agents applied locally to the surgical site. Matrix scaffolding materials are typically osteoconductive and able to provide cell scaffolding and dimensional stability of the wound through space maintenance. These materials can be allogeneic, xenogeneic, or autogenic in nature. Biologic agents are molecular mediators with typical osteoinductive properties. Matrix scaffolding materials and biologic agents can be used separately or together to achieve the desired surgical outcome. Of the available biomaterials available, platelet-rich fibrin (PRF) has been increasingly popular since its first introduction in 2000<sup>1</sup>. PRF is a platelet concentrate made of an autologous bioscaffold of mature fibrin matrix with naturally integrated growth factors capable of sustained release to promote healing of hard and soft tissues <sup>2,3,4</sup>. In the processing of PRF, the fibrin clot is allowed to polymerize, creating a natural scaffold with bound platelets and leukocytes <sup>1</sup>. PRF has been shown to be a source of transforming growth factor β-1 (TGFβ-1), vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF), platelet derived growth factor (PDGF) and a coagulation matrix glycoprotein, thrombospondin-1 (TSP-1)<sup>3,4,5</sup>. The vast

majority of the growth factors have been shown to be bound within the fibrin matrix, resulting in a slow, sustained release through the natural maturation and reorganization of the clot <sup>3,4,6</sup>. The potential clinic applications of PRF are numerous, but to date the clinical performance has been evaluated only sparsely with heterogeneous design and inconstant results.

This randomized controlled clinical trial aims to evaluate the efficacy of PRF alone or with freeze-dried bone allograft (FDBA) as compared to FDBA alone or no graft (blood clot) in improving *de novo* bone formation during ridge preservation. Bone core biopsies were taken from healed extraction sockets and evaluated using micro-CT analysis to determine bone quantity and quality at the site developed to support a dental implant.

#### Background

#### Alveolar Ridge Preservation

There is a clinical need to maintain sufficient alveolar dimensions and encourage ample bone growth after tooth extraction to support dental implants in the ideal restorative position. However, normal healing of the alveolar ridge after tooth extraction follows a resorptive process where ridge width and height are reduced <sup>7</sup>. Horizontal ridge loss is more extensive than vertical and tends to be greatest from the buccal. Vertical loss also is seen to be most extensive on the buccal aspect <sup>7,8</sup>. The resorption of the alveolus is greatest during the first six months after tooth extraction but will continue throughout the life of the patient <sup>9</sup>. Studies have reported losses of 35% to 50% of ridge dimensions following tooth extraction <sup>10, 11</sup>. A systematic review showed an average horizontal loss of 3.87mm and average vertical loss 1.67mm of the alveolar ridge following tooth extraction <sup>8</sup>. The net loss of alveolar ridge resorption is the movement of a shorter ridge in a more lingual, or palatal position. The change in position limits placing the

implant in ideal restorative and esthetic positions as well as a closer approximation to vital structures such as the inferior alveolar canal and maxillary sinuses.

To limit the effects of the resorptive healing process, ridge preservation techniques have been employed at the time of surgery. For this procedure a grafting material is placed within the socket with the goal of limiting the dimensional change and providing adequate bone to support the implant for optimum esthetics and function. A systematic review has shown a reduced loss of dimensions with ridge preservation techniques with an average horizontal loss of 1.2mm and no vertical change <sup>12</sup>. Different materials are available to use for graft material within the socket. These materials must try to balance the necessary characteristics of providing adequate space maintenance during healing while simultaneously allowing the ingrowth of new tissues for the formation of quality bone. A discussion of available biomaterials follows.

#### **Biomaterials**

Biomaterials will be discussed here broadly as matrix scaffolding material or biologic agents. Matrix scaffolding materials are employed with the purpose of providing cell scaffolding and dimensional stability of the wound through space maintenance <sup>13</sup>. These materials demonstrate lower resorption and are able to maintain the space during healing of a grafted site. They are described as a biocompatible material with osteoconductive, and possible osteoinductive, properties. Ideally, these materials maintain the space as new tissues begin to occupy the space via angiogenesis and osteogenesis and eventually completely replace the material. Different grafts are available for matrix scaffolding.

Allografts are bone grafts, either freeze dried bone allograft (FDBA) or demineralized freeze dried bone allograft (DFDBA), sourced from a human cadaver. Xenografts are bone grafts

sourced from an animal, and alloplasts are synthetic materials designed to mimic the chemical and physical structure of bone. Finally, autogenous grafts are bone grafts from the same individual transferred from one location to another <sup>14</sup>.

The processing of allografts minimizes the risk of disease transmission and complications of immunogenicity. Many studies have shown their efficacy as a bone substitute and have demonstrated osteoconductive and osteoinductive properties <sup>15,16,17,18,19</sup>. The osteoinductive properties of DFDBA have been purported to be greater compared to FDBA due to higher amounts of available growth factors (importantly bone morphogenic protein) sequestered within the boney matrix and able to be released upon implantation at the surgical site<sup>14</sup>. However, findings have been inconsistent and the inductive properties seem to be widely variable and affected by donor age, commercial preparation methods, and particle size <sup>13,20,21,22</sup>. Xenograft can be processed from a variety of sources including bovine, porcine, equine, and coralline <sup>14</sup>. Bovine is the most used source and has shown to have a similar hydroxyapatite content as human bone. It has also demonstrated osteoconductive properties but has not been shown to be osteoinductive <sup>23,24</sup>. Xenografts have been shown to have a slower substitution rate and allow for longer space maintenance with more residual particles present over time <sup>14,39</sup>. Alloplastic grafts vary in the material and can include synthetic hydroxyapatite, tricalcium phosphate, calcium sulfate, and bioactive glass <sup>14</sup>. They are completely synthetic which gives the manufacturer the advantage to control size and shape of the particles. There is also no risk of disease transmission and they are non-immunogenic. They have been shown to be biocompatible and some studies have shown them to be osteoconductive <sup>16,25</sup>. Finally, autogenous grafts are bone grafts taken from a distant donor surgical site and implanted at the recipient surgical site. The advantages of autogenous grafts are the biocompatible, osteoconductive and osteoinductive properties <sup>15,16,26</sup>.

Disease transmission and immunogenicity are not a concern with autogenous grafts. Therefore, no processing of the graft material is required and results in preservation of the sequestered growth factors that are able to encourage osteogenesis. This has resulted in faster revascularization and integration of the graft<sup>15</sup>. However, autogenous grafts require a second surgical site which can add to patient morbidity and are limited in quantity at a single donor site. While the ideal properties of a matrix scaffolding material are understood, it can be difficult to obtain them all in a single material. A slowly resorbing material may be able to provide excellent space preservation throughout the early healing process; however, at the same time the slow resorption can prevent the ingrowth of *de novo* tissue disrupting angiogenesis and osteogenesis. These material have been described as being osteobstructive <sup>27</sup>. Multiple studies have shown histological samples from healed bone graft procedures that demonstrated extensive connective tissue sequestration of graft material without true evidence of bone formation at the graft particulate <sup>28-31</sup>. These observations call in to questions the true osteoconductive properties of the materials and instead may simply show biocompatibility of the material. In attempt to maximize the properties of these materials, the combination of different materials or the addition of biologic agents have been developed.

#### Biologic agents

Biologic agents are typically used alone or in combination with a matrix scaffolding materials to improve healing at the surgical site. Their goal is to maximize the quality and quantity of the specific tissue type of interest and to increase the rate of healing. The healing process is under close temporal and spatial control. The adequate matrix needs to be presents to support the early migration of progenitor cells followed by the appropriate signaling for further migration and proliferation towards the final desired tissue type. Biologic agents act at these different steps to further enhance this complex healing process <sup>32,33</sup>. Growth factors and signaling agents generally make up biological agents, each with a different origin and mode of action with a specific cell and tissue type as the target.

Of the many commercially available biologic agents available, bone morphogenic protein (BMP-2), platelet derived growth factor (PDGF), and fibroblast growth factor (FGF-2) will be discussed here. Bone morphogenic protein is a strong osteoinductive member of the transforming growth factor- $\beta$  family <sup>33</sup>. It has demonstrated increased osteoblast differentiation and upregulated mineralized tissue markers <sup>34</sup>. It is available commercially as Infuse (Medtronic, Minneapolis, USA) and is FDA approved for extraction sockets and sinus augmentation procedures with the main goal to enhance bone formation for implant site development. Animal and limited human studies have shown BMP-2 to be successful in preserving ridge dimensions and enhancing bone quality and rate of healing when applied to the surgical site with and without bone graft material <sup>35-39</sup>.

Platelet derived growth factor is involved naturally in wound healing. As the name implies, it is released from platelets at the site of tissue injury and resulted in the promotion of fibroblast, cementoblast, and osteoblast migration and proliferation at the surgical site <sup>33,40</sup>. It is commercially available as Gem 21 (Osteohealth, New York, USA) and is FDA approved for the treatment of periodontal bone defects and related gingival recession. Beyond the specific FDA approval, studies have tested PDGF with bone graft material for ride augmentation for implant site development. These studies have shown successful bone formation with faster rates of healing and higher quality of bone <sup>41,42,43</sup>.

Fibroblast growth factor-2 is a protein involved largely with fibroblast proliferation. *In vivo* studies have demonstrated increased osteoblast proliferation and a strong angiogenic potential <sup>44,45</sup>. While some animal studies have shown its potential for use within periodontology, no human studies have been completed to date. Work is still needed on deciphering the correct dosage and an adequate vehicle before its implementation into humans.

Theses biologic agents, and other similar commercially available ones have demonstrated clinical success in attempting to enhance the biologic process of wound healing. However, these processes are complicated and not fully understood. Natural growth factor secretion and cell signaling is under strict temporal and sequential control and this has proven difficult to mimic with current biomaterials. Attempts are made to maximize the substantivity of the agent at the surgical site. Different carriers are used as a material to deliver the protein or molecule to the site and retain it there for a period of time. If the substantivity is too short, the agent will be cleared from the site and not be available at the necessary time point of the healing process. However, if it is present for too long of a time it can have a negative effect and can dampen the intended result. Being able to control the release of the agent at the surgical site at a specific time point when it can best be utilized and not interfere with other processes is a characteristic of an ideal biologic agent that has yet to be achieved. For maximization of clinical results using biologic agents, a better understanding of the healing processes must be understood.

#### Platelet Rich Fibrin

Platelet rich fibrin is considered a second generation blood concentrate first introduced by Choukroun in 2006<sup>1,2</sup>. The production of PRF requires collection of whole blood from the patient which is then immediately centrifuged at approximately 400g in a glass tube without the

addition of anticoagulants or additives. During the centrifuge process, the fibrin is allowed to slowly polymerize while the blood separates into three distinct layers; an acellular platelet poor plasma on top, a concentrated hematocrit at the base, and the fibrin clot in the middle <sup>2</sup>. The fibrin clot is the desired product which can be easily isolated and applied surgically as required. In the processing of PRF, the fibrin clot is allowed to polymerize, creating a natural scaffold with bound platelets and leukocytes<sup>2</sup>. Concentration of platelets within PRF have been shown to be more than 15 times higher than that of whole blood of the same volume <sup>46</sup>. This high concentration of platelets has been shown to be a significant source of transforming growth factor β-1 (TGFβ-1), vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF), platelet derived growth factor (PDGF) and a coagulation matrix glycoprotein, thrombospondin-1 (TSP-1) <sup>3,4,5</sup>. The vast majority of the growth factors have been shown to be bound within the fibrin matrix acting as an ideal carrier of growth factors to be applied to a surgical site <sup>3,5</sup>. The fibrin matrix is naturally remodeled as part of the healing process. As the remodeling occurs, platelets are activated and release their associated growth factors to promote the continued healing process <sup>6</sup>. Therefore, PRF allows for the slow, sustained release of growth factors at the surgical site through the natural maturation and reorganization of the clot thus mimicking the temporal and sequential control of growth delivery and activation <sup>3,5,6</sup>. Additionally, cytokines demonstrated to be present in PRF (Interluekin-1β,4, and 6) have the ability to further recruit key growth factors to the site for the promotion of wound healing  $^{3}$ .

It is important to differentiate PRF from the earlier generation of blood concentrates known at platelet rich plasma (PRP). Platelet rich plasma was introduced as an autologous modification of fibrin glue, a hemostatic and adhesive agent used in the surgical field <sup>47,48</sup>. Generally, the preparation protocol begins with the initial introduction of anticoagulant to the collected blood

sample, followed by multiple centrifuge and separation cycles that result in a concentrated platelet product. Topical bovine thrombin is then added to activate the platelets and the clotting cascade in order to obtain an active product with gel-like handling properties conducive for to the dentoalveolar surgical field. However, the production protocol for PRF offers multiple reported advantages over PRP. Notably, there is no addition of anticoagulant and the clotting cascade is allowed to occur naturally with PRF. This results in a more robust and resistant fibrin scaffold that conveys two significant benefits to PRF over PRP. First, the fibrin entraps the concentrated platelets. This allows for substantivity and a slow release of the platelets and their associated growth factors at the surgical site as the fibrin clot is reorganized during normal wound healing. Second, the fibrin clot in PRF is more resilient than the gel-like consistency of the PRP. This allows for easies handling characteristics and use in a wider variety of applications. PRF clots can be compressed into a thin sheet and be applied in the surgical field as a membrane would. Additionally, it can be mixed into bone graft particulate or the whole fibrin clot can be applied to offer a stabilized clot at the surgical site with putative osteoconductive and osteoinductive properties.

Evidence of PRF as an effective bioactive scaffold has been readily demonstrated *in vitro*. In prior studies, osteoblastic proliferation and differentiation was promoted with PRF scaffolds over collagen or platelet rich plasma substrates <sup>49,50</sup>. Osteoblast-like behavior of progenitor cells grown on PRF substrates was evident with the detection of mineralization deposition at a rate comparable to cells grown in pro-osteogenic medium <sup>51</sup>. This increased mineralization coincided with a nearly fourfold increase in pro-osteoblast differentiation transcription factor RunX-2 <sup>51</sup>. PRF also demonstrated a significant enhancement of fibroblastic proliferation <sup>52</sup>.

The *in vitro* literature supports PRF's potential efficacy as a bioscaffold to be used clinically. Some studies have used PRF augmented with particulate grafting material, as proposed in this study. Platelet rich fibrin has a natural fibrin matrix that imparts some scaffolding matrix characteristics; however, it is thought the addition of graft particulate to PRF will enhance the space preservation qualities desired for surgical application but could be used at a lower concentration to minimize that osteobstructive effects sometimes seen with graft particulate. In this effort, one study demonstrated that in the treatment of intrabony defects, PRF augmented with bovine porous bone mineral showed greater PD reduction and CAL gain compared to PRF alone <sup>53</sup>. Similarly, sinus grafts were performed using PRF augmented with FDBA or deproteinized bovine bone <sup>54,55</sup>. These studies demonstrated a faster histological healing rate and greater new bone formation with the experimental treatments. However, subject numbers were small and significant differences were not found. Additional clinical applications for PRF alone have included treatment of intrabony defects, furcation defects and root coverage procedures <sup>56,57,58</sup>. Success of these applications have been inconsistent, and minimal analysis beyond clinical parameters cannot demonstrate the true effect of PRF in vivo.

It is evident that the inconsistency of results associated with the current clinical applications of PRF have resulted in an inability to understand the specific and best clinical utility of PRF. The proposed study aims to reduce the heterogeneity by using a clinical model which negates many of the clinical variables and allows the assessment of the true osteogenic potential of PRF. By analyzing bone healing and monitoring dimensional stability, this study will demonstrate the osteogenic potential of PRF and show its utility as an effective autologous biomaterial for ridge preservation.

#### **Materials and Methods**

The Institutional Review Board at the University of California of San Francisco approved the study design. Subjects were recruited from the Dental Center at the University of California at San Francisco patient pool between December 2015 and May 2016. All patients were screened for inclusion criteria and eligible subject were enrolled into the study and written consent was obtained. Eligible subjects presented with a single rooted tooth requiring extraction and replacement with a dental implant supported restoration. Included teeth had root position and angulation that was consistent with planned implant placement. Teeth were excluded if they demonstrated a buccal dehiscence more than 25% of the length of the tooth or presence of acute infection of endodontic origin. Subjects were excluded from the study if they exhibited poor oral hygiene, pregnant woman or patients who intend to become pregnant, those who use tobacco; if they had any medical condition that would be a contraindication to dental surgery or could alter healing such as autoimmune disorders, immunosuppressed, or uncontrolled diabetes. Forty subject were enrolled into the study. Subjects were randomized via random sequence generation into one of four ridge preservation treatment protocols to be performed immediately after the extraction. The four treatment groups included PRF, PRF+FDBA, FDBA, and blood clot.

Extractions and ridge preservation procedures were completed by three different residents at the UCSF Graduate Periodontology clinic. All subject were given 600mg ibuprofen and chlorhexidine gluconate 0.12% mouth rinse (Peridex, 3M, Minneapolis, USA) at the beginning of the appointment. Local anesthetic was administered at the site and non-traumatic tooth extraction was completed without the elevation of a mucoperiosteal flap. The socket was

thoroughly curetted, irrigated with sterile saline, and inspected for presence of perforation, fenestration, or dehiscence.

Subject enrolled in the PRF or PRF+FDBA group had blood drawn and PRF prepared according to the following protocol outlined by Choukroun<sup>2</sup>. Venous blood was collected via venipuncture of the forearm with a butterfly needle into one 10 ml sterile glass vacuum tube. The blood sample was immediately centrifuged at 3000 rpm for 10 minutes. The PRF was separated from the three distinct layers that had formed within the tube.

#### Ridge preservation Protocols

Subjects enrolled in the PRF group had PRF prepared as described above. The entire PRF clot was removed from the tube and placed into the socket. Gauze were used to compress the clot lightly within the socket so it was at the level of the boney crest. If the PRF required modification to fit within the socket, the end of the PRF clot closest to the top of the tube, away from the red blood cell layer, was trimmed off. A Collaplug (Integra Life Science, New Jersey, USA) was placed over the PRF from the boney crest to the gingival margin. Vicryl sutures were placed across the socket and cyanoacrylate (PeriAcryl90, GluStitch Inc, British Columbia, Canada) was applied to seal the margins.

Subject enrolled in the PRF+FDBA group had PRF prepared as described above. The clot was removed and cut into small pieces with a scissors starting from the end closest to the red blood cell layer. Freeze dried bone allograft (AlloOss, Ace Surgical, MA, USA) was added to the PRF pieces and mixed to achieve a final volume with at 1:1 ratio of graft particulate to PRF. This was approximately 0.5cc FDBA to a full PRF clot obtained from a single tube. The mixture was

added to the socket up to the boney crest with light compression. A Collaplug was applied in the same manner as described above.

Subjects enrolled in the FDBA group had the same graft particulate as the group above hydrated and added to the socket with light compression up to the boney crest. A Collaplug was applied in the same manner as described above.

Subjects enrolled in the blood clot group had no additional materials added within the socket. Further curettage of the socket walls was performed to allow the socket to fill up to the boney crest with blood. The Collaplug was applied in the same manner as described above. All subjects for all groups received the same post-operative instructions. Chlorhexidine mouth rinse was prescribed to each subject for use twice daily for two weeks. For pain control, NSAIDs were recommended and prescription narcotics were prescribed as needed. Subject returned after two weeks for suture removal and again after one month for further evaluation of healing.

#### Bone Core Harvest

Subjects returned to clinic three months after the extraction for placement of the implant. Necessary radiographs were taken to plan appropriately for implant placement. A surgical guide was fabricated from the original cast to direct the trephine into the socket. Local anesthetic was delivered and an incision was made over the edentulous crest and a minimal mucoperiosteal flap was elevated for access. A trephine was used first with a 2mm internal diameter to obtain a core sample of the bone to the measured depth of the original socket. Harvested bone cores were immediately placed in 10% neutral buffered formalin. Osteotomies were continued and implants were placed according to standard protocol. One or two stage implant protocols were used based

on the clinician's preference and patients were followed according to standard clinical protocol to completion of the implant restoration.

#### Micro-CT Analysis

Bone core samples obtained from the subjects of all groups were fixed in 10% neutral buffered formaldehyde for a minimum of five days. A high-resolution micro-CT system (Sky- Scan 1172; Bruker-micro-CT, Kontich, Belgium) was operated at 100 kV and 100 mA using a 0.5-mm Al + Cu filter with a resolution of 13.68532-mm pixels. Data obtained during micro- CT scanning of the samples were transformed into images with NRecon v.1.6.3 software (Bruker-micro-CT) and analyzed with CTAn v.1.12 software (Bruker-micro-CT). The software was used to separate mineralized tissues (new bone and graft particulate) from non-mineralized tissues (connective tissue, vascular tissue) based on the differences of the materials' x-ray absorbance coefficient. Analysis was performed to define bone volume fraction and bone mineral density of the different materials within the same sample and allow for comparisons across groups. Finally, the software was used to generate three-dimensional images of the samples to allow for qualitative comparisons of bone quality across groups.

#### Results

Thirty three of the 40 subjects enrolled completed the study to date. There were 17 males and 16 females with an average age of 58 who completed the study. The majority of the teeth were extracted due to fractures or non-restorable carious lesions. Table 1 presents the demographic data of the subjects enrolled in the study.

One implant failure was noted in the PRF treated group during an early loading period with a total implant success rate of 97%. No other major surgical complications were noted. Thirteen percent of sites required additional hard tissue grafting at the time of implant placement. This consisted of sites generally in the maxillary anterior and was not significant for any one ridge preservation protocol. Average healing time for each group was 104 days for blood clot group, 104 days for PRF group, 105 days for PRF+FDBA group, and 103 days for FDBA group.

#### Micro-CT analysis

Qualitative differences were evident between the four treatment groups based on comparisons of the rendered cross sections (Figure 1). Blood clot, PRF, and PRF+FDBA groups were noted for having smooth trabecular formation throughout the samples. The FDBA group had very limited bone morphology that resembled trabecular formation and instead was dominated by disorganized and disrupted mineralized structures resembling graft particulate. Differences in the amount of bone present was evident as there was a trend for higher bone volume in PRF and PRF+FDBA groups compared to blood clot group.

Bone volume fraction was performed for all samples across all treatment groups (Figure 2). Total bone volume for the blood clot group was 33.6%, PRF group 41.1%, PRF+FDBA group 38.4% and FDBA group 29.5%. No significant differences between groups was noted. Bone mineral density was performed for all samples across all treatment groups (Figure 3). Bone mineral density for the blood clot group was 484.7 g/cm<sup>3</sup>, PRF group 500.9 g/cm<sup>3</sup>, PRF+FDBA group 519.9 g/cm<sup>3</sup>, and FDBA group 517.2 g/cm<sup>3</sup>. No significant differences between groups was noted.

#### Discussion

In comparisons of bone volume fraction and bone mineral density, no significant differences were seen between groups using micro-CT analysis. The PRF group had the highest bone volume fraction and the PRF+FDBA group had the highest bone mineral density. A trend for better bone quality and quantity is seen with the addition of PRF but at this time point no significant differences can be detected.

The percent of new bone formation in extraction sockets shown in this analysis ranged from 29.5% to 41.1%. This range is consistent with what has been shown previously in the literature <sup>59,60,61</sup>. These studies generally used longer healing times, had different surgical protocols, and used histological analysis instead of micro-CT; however, the findings remained within the same range of new bone volume as this study. Interestingly, in this study the FDBA group showed the lowest percentage of new bone volume while the PRF group demonstrated the highest. The PRF group may have an advantage compared to the FDBA group in that the scaffolding provided by PRF is a dense fibrin matrix that may undergo faster resorption compared to FDBA. By resorbing in a timelier manner, there is more room for *de novo* tissue in growth. This higher bone volume could be further enhanced by the associated concentrated growth factors found in PRF and not FDBA. Osteobstructive characteristics of bone graft material have been described before and it appears this study supports FDBA as being more osteobstructive at 3 months healing time<sup>27-31</sup>. In addition to the lower bone volume, micro-CT also demonstrated a qualitative difference in bone formation of the FDBA group compared to the others. Trabecular formation and structure was quite evident in the blood clot, PRF, and PRF+FDBA groups, while little trabecular structure could be noted in the FDBA group (Figure 1). The mineralized tissues in the FDBA group were disorganized and disconnected, resembling graft particulate generally. Again,

these qualitative findings support an osteobstructive characteristic of FDBA. It is important to note that this study allowed for three months healing time which is fairly short in comparison to other ridge reservation studies <sup>59-61</sup>. With longer healing times, FDBA may be present at lesser amounts as it is resorbed and more trabecular formation may be noted. There may also be a benefit in better space maintenance for certain clinical scenarios where a more slowly resorbing material is desired.

Bone mineral density was also analyzed via micro-CT and no significant differences were found between groups. In this scenario of new bone formation at extraction sites, bone mineral density describes the maturity of bone that has formed. A higher bone mineral density can be associated with faster healing and more mature bone. Comparisons of bone mineral density across all groups in this study is limited. The PRF+FDBA and FDBA groups use a mineralized material with a high mineral density added as part of the treatment protocol. By performing a micro-CT on the FDBA material alone it was found to have a bone mineral density of 564.6 g/cm<sup>3</sup>. This was higher than the averages found for all other treatment groups. Therefore, it could be expected that groups with FDBA used for treatment would have elevated bone mineral density due to the presence of residual graft material and not necessarily due to a higher rate of healing. In addition to the limitation above, micro-CT is also limited by the ability to differentiate materials with too similar x-ray absorbance coefficients. For this study, this limited the ability to separate new bone and graft particulate in a high throughput manner. Therefore, it was likely residual graft particulate was included with new bone volume and incorrectly elevated the percentage of new bone formation. Also, as stated above, residual graft was likely included with new bone volume and incorrectly elevated the bone mineral density as well. Other methods, such as histological analysis, exist to allow for better visualization and separation of graft

particulate from new bone for quantification. In future studies it may be best use both methods to more accurately analyze bone cores.

There is a limited number of studies who have used micro-CT for analysis of bone healing at extractions sockets <sup>62,63</sup>. The majority of other studies employ histological methods for analysis of new bone volume. The benefits of micro-CT include a wider volume of material being analyzed. In this study the bone cores were 2mm in diameter and the entire volume was analyzed and quantified. Histological methods use a single or multiple representative slices less than 0.5mm thick for analysis. Findings from these slices are then generalized as being representative of the entire specimen. However, it has not been shown how much more accurate micro-CT is compared to histology for bone volume quantification. Further research on this topic is required.

#### Conclusion

The present study demonstrated that ridge preservation using PRF with or without FDBA produced no statistically significant differences in bone volume fraction and bone mineral density compared to blood clot or FDBA alone. PRF was shown to be an acceptable autologous biomaterial to encourage bone healing and allow for successful implant placement at the treated site. No significant differences were seen in the PRF group compared to established ridge preservation methods and trends were seen for better performance of PRF compared to blood clot and FDBA. To the best of our knowledge, this is the first randomized controlled clinical trial to evaluate PRF as a material for ridge preservation.

## **Tables and Figures**

	Group A N=9	Group B N=8	Group C N=8	Group D N=8
Age -yr	56.8±13.1	62.3±14.2	58.1±12.7	57.4±15.7
Gender				
Male	5	5	4	3
Female	4	3	4	5
Tooth				
position				
Incisor	1	1	2	3
Canine	0	2	0	0
Premolar	8	5	6	5

Table 1. Demographic data of subjects enrolled in study and tooth position of teeth extracted. Group A. Blood clot, Group B. PRF, Group C. PRD+FDBA, Group D. FDBA



Figure 1. Representative micro-CT sections of bone cores from the four different treatment protocols.



Figure 2. Bone volume fraction of the four ridge preservation protocols as analyzed via micro-CT



Figure 3. Bone mineral density of the four ridge preservation protocols as analyzed via micro-CT

#### References

1. Choukroun J, Adda F, Schoeffler C (2000), Vervelle A. Une opportunite´ en paro-implantologie: le PRF. Implantodontie 2000;42:55-62. French.

2. Dohan DM, Choukroun J, Diss A, Dohan SL, Dohan AJ, Mouhyi J, Gogly B. Platelet-rich fibrin (PRF): a second-generation platelet concentrate. Part I: technological concepts and evolution. Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol Oral Radiol Endod. 2006;101:e37-44.

3. Dohan DM, Choukroun J, Diss A, Dohan SL, Dohan AJ, Mouhyi J. Platelet-rich fibrin (PRF): a second generation platelet concentrate. Part II: platelet-related biologic features. Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol Oral Radiol Endod. 2006;101,e45.

4. Dohan DM, Choukroun J, Diss A, Dohan SL, Dohan AJ, Mouhyi J, and Gogly BL.. Plateletrich fibrin (PRF): a second-generation platelet concentrate. Part III: leucocyte activation: a new feature for platelet concentrates? Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol Oral Radiol Endod. 2006;101,e51.

5. Dohan Ehrenfest DM, de Peppo GM, Doglioli P, Sammartino G. Slow release of growth factors and thrombospondin-1 in Choukroun's platelet-rich fibrin (PRF): a gold standard to achieve for all surgical platelet concentrates technologies. Growth Factors. 2009;27,.63.

6. Clark RA. Fibrin and wound healing. Ann N Y Acad Sci. 2001;936:355–367.

7. Iasella, J. M., Greenwell, H., Miller, R. L., Hill, M., Drisko, C., Bohra, A. A. & Scheetz, J. P. (2003) Ridge preservation with freeze-dried bone allograft and a collagen membrane compared to extraction alone for implant site development: a clinical and histologic study in humans. Journal of Periodontology 74, 990–999

8. Van der Weijden F, Dell'Acqua F, Slot DE. Alveolar bone dimensional changes of postextraction sockets in humans: a systematic review. J Clin Periodontol. 2009 Dec;36(12):1048-58.

9. Jahangiri, L., Devlin, H., Ting, K. & Nishimura, I. (1998) Current perspectives in residual ridge remodeling and its clinical implications: a review. Journal of Prosthetic Dentistry 80, 224–237

10. Schropp L, Wenzel A, Kostopoulos L, Karring T. Bone healing and soft tissue contour changes following single-tooth extraction: A clinical and radiographic 12-month prospective study. Int J Periodontics Restorative Dent 2003;23(4):313-323.

11. Arau jo M, Linder E, Wennstrom J, Lindhe J. The influence of Bio-Oss collagen on healing of an extraction socket: An experimental study in the dog. Int J Periodontics Restorative Dent 2008;28(2):123-135.

12. Ten Heggeler, J. M. A. G., Slot, D. E. and Van der Weijden, G. A. (2011), Effect of socket preservation therapies following tooth extraction in non-molar regions in humans: a systematic review. Clinical Oral Implants Research, 22: 779–788.

13. Susin C, Wikesjö UM. Regenerative periodontal therapy: 30 years of lessons learned and unlearned. Periodontol 2000. 2013;62:232-42.

14. Jamjoom A, Cohen RE. Grafts for Ridge Preservation. J Funct Biomater. 2015 Aug 7;6(3):833-48

15. Porrini R., Rocchetti V., Vercellino V., Cannas M., Sabbatini M. Alveolar bone regeneration in post-extraction socket: A review of materials to postpone dental implant. Biomed. Mater. Eng. 2011;21:63–74.

16. AlGhamdi A.S., Shibly O., Ciancio S.G. Osseous grafting part I: Autografts and allografts for periodontal regeneration—A literature review. J. Int. Acad. Periodontol. 2010;12:34–38.

17. Whittaker J.M., James R.A., Lozada J., Cordova C., GaRey D.J. Histological response and clinical evaluation of heterograft and allograft materials in the elevation of the maxillary sinus for the preparation of endosteal dental implant sites. Simultaneous sinus elevation and root form implantation: An eight-month autopsy report. J. Oral Implantol. 1989;15:141–144.

18. Wetzel A.C., Stich H., Caffesse R.G. Bone apposition onto oral implants in the sinus area filled with different grafting materials. A histological study in beagle dogs. Clin. Oral Implants Res. 1995;6:155–163.

19. Yukna R.A., Vastardis S. Comparative evaluation of decalcified and non-decalcified freezedried bone allografts in rhesus monkeys. I. Histologic findings. J. Periodontol. 2005;76:57–65.

20. Schwartz Z, Mellonig JT, Carnes DL Jr, de la Fontaine J, Cochran DL, Dean DD, Boyan BD. Ability of commercial demineralized freeze-dried bone allograft to induce new bone formation. J Periodontol 1996: 67: 918–926.

21. Shapoff CA, Bowers GM, Levy B, Mellonig JT, Yukna RA. The effect of particle size on the osteogenic activity of composite grafts of allogeneic freeze-dried bone and autogenous marrow. J Periodontol 1980: 51: 625–630.

22. Acarturk TO, Hollinger JO. Commercially available demineralized bone matrix compositions to regenerate calvarial critical-sized bone defects. Plast Reconstr Surg 2006: 118: 862–873.

23. AlGhamdi A.S., Shibly O., Ciancio S.G. Osseous grafting part II: Xenografts and alloplasts for periodontal regeneration—A literature review. J. Int. Acad. Periodontol. 2010;12:39–44.

24. Rodella L.F., Favero G., Labanca M. Biomaterials in maxillofacial surgery: Membranes and grafts. Int. J. Biomed. Sci. 2011;7:81–88.

25. Darby I. Periodontal materials. Aust. Dent. J. 2011;56:107-118

26. Klijn R.J., Meijer G.J., Bronkhorst E.M., Jansen J.A. A meta-analysis of histomorphometric results and graft healing time of various biomaterials compared to autologous bone used as sinus floor augmentation material in humans. Tissue Eng. Part B Rev. 2010;16:493–507.

27. Trombelli L, Lee MB, Promsudthi A, Guglielmoni PG, Wikesjo UM. Periodontal repair in dogs: histologic observations of guided tissue regeneration with a prostaglandin E1 analog / methacrylate composite. J Clin Periodontol 1999;26: 381-387.

28. Becker W, Clokie C, Sennerby L, Urist MR, Becker BE. Histologic findings after implantation and evaluation of different grafting materials and titanium micro screws into extraction sockets: case reports. J Periodontol 1998: 69: 414–421.

29. Becker W, Urist M, Becker BE, Jackson W, Parry DA, Bartold M, Vincenzzi G, De Georges D, Niederwanger M. Clinical and histologic observations of sites implanted with intraoral autologous bone grafts or allografts. 15 human case reports. J Periodontol 1996: 67: 1025–1033.

30. Caplanis N, Lee MB, Zimmerman GJ, Selvig KA, Wikesjo UM. Effect of allogeneic freezedried demineralized bone matrix on regeneration of alveolar bone and periodontal attachment in dogs. J Clin Periodontol 1998: 25: 801–806.

31. Caplanis N, Sigurdsson TJ, Rohrer MD, Wikesjo UM. Effect of allogeneic, freeze-dried, demineralized bone matrix on guided bone regeneration in supra-alveolar peri-implant defects in dogs. Int J Oral Maxillofac Implants 1997: 12:634–642.

32. M. Padial-Molina and H. F. Rios, "Stem cells, scaffolds and gene therapy for periodontal engineering," Current Oral Health Reports, vol. 1, no. 1, pp. 16–25, 2014.

33. Fernando Suárez-López del Amo, Alberto Monje, Miguel Padial-Molina, ZhiHui Tang, and Hom-Lay Wang, "Biologic Agents for Periodontal Regeneration and Implant Site Development," BioMed Research International, vol. 2015, Article ID 957518, 10 pages, 2015.

34. Pilipchuk SP, Plonka AB, Monje A, Taut AD, Lanis A, Kang B, Giannobile WV. Tissue engineering for bone regeneration and osseointegration in the oral cavity. Dent Mater. 2015 Apr;31(4):317-38.

35. Cha JK, Lee JS, Kim MS, Choi SH, Cho KS, Jung UW. Sinus augmentation using BMP-2 in a bovine hydroxyapatite/collagen carrier in dogs. J Clin Periodontol. 2014; 41:86–93.

36. Choi Y, Lee JS, Kim YJ, Kim MS, Choi SH, Cho KS, et al. Recombinant human bone morphogenetic protein-2 stimulates the osteogenic potential of the Schneiderian membrane: a histometric analysis in rabbits. Tissue Eng Part A. 2013; 19:1994–2004.

37. T. H. Howell, J. Fiorellini, A. Jones et al., "A feasibility study evaluating rhBMP-2/absorbable collagen sponge device for local alveolar ridge preservation or augmentation," International Journal of Periodontics and Restorative Dentistry, vol. 17, no. 2, pp. 125–139, 1997.

38. D. L. Cochran, A. A. Jones, L. C. Lilly, J. P. Fiorellini, and H. Howell, "Evaluation of recombinant human bone morphogenetic protein-2 in oral applications including the use of endosseous implants: 3-year results of a pilot study in humans," Journal of Periodontology, vol. 71, no. 8, pp. 1241–1257, 2000.

39. Jovanovic SA, Hunt DR, Bernard GW, Spiekermann H, Wozney JM, Wikesjo UM. Bone reconstruction following implantation of rhBMP-2 and guided bone regeneration in canine alveolar ridge defects. Clin Oral Implants Res. 2007; 18:224–30.

40. M. K. McGuire, E. T. Scheyer, and M. B. Snyder, Evaluation of recession defects treated with coronally advanced flaps and either recombinant human platelet-derived growth factor-BB plus -tricalcium phosphate or connective tissue: comparison of clinical parameters at 5 years, Journal of Periodontology, vol. 85, no. 10, pp. 1361.1370, 2014.

41. M. Simion, I. Rocchietta, D. Kim, M. Nevins, and J. Fiorellini, "Vertical ridge augmentation bymeans of deproteinized bovine bone block and recombinant human platelet-derived growth factor-BB: a histologic study in a dog model," International Journal of Periodontics and Restorative Dentistry, vol. 26, no. 5, pp. 415–423, 2006.

42. S. Wallace, M. Snyder, and H. Prasad, "Postextraction ridge preservation and augmentation with mineralized allograft with or without recombinant human platelet-derived growth factor BB (rhPDGF-BB): a consecutive case series," International Journal of Periodontics and Restorative Dentistry, vol. 33, no. 5, pp. 599–609, 2013.

43. F. Schwarz, M. Sager, D. Ferrari, I. Mihatovic, and J. Becker, "Influence of recombinant human platelet-derived growth factor on lateral ridge augmentation using biphasic calcium phosphate and guided bone regeneration: a histomorphometric study in dogs," Journal of Periodontology, vol. 80, no. 8, pp. 1315–1323, 2009.

44. H. Mayahara, T. Ito, H. Nagai et al., "In vivo stimulation of endosteal bone formation by basic fibroblast growth factor in rats," Growth Factors, vol. 9, no. 1, pp. 73–80, 1993.

45. R. T. Kao, S. Murakami, and O. R. Beirne, "The use of biologic mediators and tissue engineering in dentistry," Periodontology 2000, vol. 50, no. 1, pp. 127–153, 2009.

46. Lundquist R, Holmstrøm K, Clausen C, Jørgensen B, Karlsmark T. Characteristics of an autologous leukocyte and platelet-rich fibrin patch intended for the treatment of recalcitrant wounds. Wound Repair Regen. 2013 Jan-Feb;21(1):66-76.

47. Sánchez AR, Sheridan PJ, Kupp LI (2003) Is platelet-rich plasma the perfect enhancement factor? A current review. Int J Oral Maxillofac Implants 18:93-103

48. Hood AG, Hill AG, Reeder GD (1993). Perioperative autologous sequestration. III: A new physiologic glue with wound healing properties. Proc Am Acad Cardiovasc Perfusion 1993;14: 126–130.

49. Gassling V, Hedderich J, Açil Y, Purcz N, Wiltfang J, Douglas T. Comparison of platelet rich fibrin and collagen as osteoblast-seeded scaffolds for bone tissue engineering applications. Clin Oral Implants Res. 2013;24:320-8.

50. He L, Lin Y, Hu X, Zhang Y, Wu H, A comparative study of platelet-rich fibrin (PRF) and platelet-rich plasma (PRP) on the effect of proliferation and differentiation of rat osteoblasts in

vitro. Oral Surgery, Oral Medicine, Oral Pathology, Oral Radiology and Endodontology. 2009;108:707–713.

51. Li Q, Pan S, Dangaria SJ, Gopinathan G, Kolokythas A, Chu S, Geng Y, Zhou Y, Luan X. Platelet-rich fibrin promotes periodontal regeneration and enhances alveolar bone augmentation. Biomed Res Int. 2013;638043.

52. Ehrenfest DMD, Diss A, Odin G, Doglioli P, Hippolyte MP, Charrier JB. In vitro effects of Choukroun's PRF (platelet-rich fibrin) on human gingival fibroblasts, dermal prekeratinocytes, preadipocytes, and maxillofacial osteoblasts in primary cultures. Oral Surgery, Oral Medicine, Oral Pathology, Oral Radiology and Endodontology. 2009;108;341–352.
53. 3. Lekovic V, Milinkovic I, Aleksic Z, Jankovic S, Stankovic P, Kenney EB, Camargo PM. Platelet-rich fibrin and bovine porous bone mineral vs. platelet-rich fibrin in the treatment of intrabony periodontal defects. J Periodontal Res. 2012;47:409-17.

54. Choukroun J, Diss A, Simonpieri A, Girard MO, Schoeffler C, Dohan SL, Dohan AJ, Mouhyi J, Dohan DM. Platelet-rich fibrin (PRF): a second-generation platelet concentrate. Part V: histologic evaluations of PRF effects on bone allograft maturation in sinus lift. Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol Oral Radiol Endod. 2006;101:299-303.

55. Zhang Y, Tangl S, Huber CD, Lin Y, Qiu L, Rausch-Fan X. Effects of Choukroun's plateletrich fibrin on bone regeneration in combination with deproteinized bovine bone mineral in maxillary sinus augmentation: a histological and histomorphometric study. J Craniomaxillofac Surg. 2012;40:321-8.

56. Thorat M, Pradeep AR, Pallavi B. Clinical effect of autologous platelet-rich fibrin in the treatment of intra-bony defects: a controlled clinical trial. J Clin Periodontol. 2011;38:925-32.

57. Sharma A, Pradeep AR. Autologous platelet-rich fibrin in the treatment of mandibular degree II furcation defects: a randomized clinical trial. J Periodontol. 2011;82:1396-403.

58. Aroca S, Keglevich T, Barbieri B, Gera I, Etienne D. Clinical evaluation of a modified coronally advanced flap alone or in combination with a platelet-rich fibrin membrane for the treatment of adjacent multiple gingival recessions: a 6-month study. J Periodontol. 2009;80:244-52.

59. Fotek PD, Neiva RF, Wang HL. Comparison of dermal matrix and polytetrafluoroethylene membrane for socket bone augmentation: A clinical and histologic study. J Periodontol 2009;80:776-785

60. Wood RA, Mealey BL. Histologic comparison of healing after tooth extraction with ridge preservation using mineralized versus demineralized freeze-dried bone allograft. J Periodontol 2012;83:329-336.

61. Beck TM, Mealey BL. Histologic analysis of healing after tooth extraction with ridge preservation using mineralized human bone allograft. J Periodontol 2010;81:1765-1772.

62. Brownfield LA, Weltman RL. Ridge preservation with or without an osteoinductive allograft: a clinical, radiographic, micro-computed tomography, and histologic study evaluating dimensional changes and new bone formation of the alveolar ridge. J Periodontol. 2012 May;83(5):581-9.

63. Neiva R, Pagni G, Duarte F, Park CH, Yi E, Holman LA, Giannobile WV. Analysis of tissue neogenesis in extraction sockets treated with guided bone regeneration: clinical, histologic, and micro-CT results. Int J Periodontics Restorative Dent. 2011 Sep-Oct;31(5):457-69.

#### **Publishing Agreement**

It is the policy of the University to encourage the distribution of all theses, dissertations, and manuscripts. Copies of all UCSF theses, dissertations, and manuscripts will be routed to the library via the Graduate Division. The library will make all theses, dissertations, and manuscripts accessible to the public and will preserve these to the best of their abilities, in perpetuity.

I hereby grant permission to the Graduate Division of the University of California, San Francisco to release copies of my thesis, dissertation, or manuscript to the Campus Library to provide access and preservation, in whole or in part, in perpetuity.

thor Signature	Date	6/10	/16	
0 U		(		